Filed 03-16-2023

A DOME



MAR 1 6 2023

# STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT Case No. 2022AP001090

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

In re the termination of parental rights to E.T.S., person under the age of 18: PORTAGE COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES,

Petitioner-Respondent,

C.S.,

v.

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from an Order Terminating C.S.'s Parental Rights to E.T.S. and an Order Denying C.S.'s Postdisposition Motion Entered in the Portage County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael D. Zell, Presiding

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

JEREMY A. NEWMAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1084404

## ISSUE PRESENTED

In Steven V. v. Kelley H.,<sup>1</sup> this Court held that due process does not prohibit the use of summary judgment at the parental fitness stage in TPR proceedings. In doing so, the court explained that summary judgment will "ordinarily be inappropriate" in TPR cases premised on "fact-intensive grounds for parental unfitness." The court did not, however, outright bar application of summary judgment to these non-paper grounds, stating in a footnote that the "propriety of summary judgment is determined case-by-case."

In the two decades since Steven V. v. Kelley H., the court of appeals has elevated the case-bycase footnote as a means to ignore the distinction between fact-intensive and "paper grounds." Furthermore, under its caseby-case framework, the court has unlawfully shifted the burden from the county to the parent to prove why they are fit to parent their child.

The time has come to reconsider Steven V. v. Kelley H. and decide whether summary judgment is ever appropriate in cases premised on the fact-intensive TPR ground known as "continuing CHIPS."

Below, the circuit court granted the county's motion for summary judgment and denied C.S.'s postdisposition motion challenging that decision

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Steven V. v. Kelley H., 2004 WI 47, ¶¶4-5, 271 Wis. 2d 1, 678 N.W.2d 856.

through the lens of ineffective assistance of counsel. The court of appeals affirmed. See Portage County DH & HS v. C.S., No. 2022AP1090 unpublished slip op., (WI App Feb. 23, 2023). (Pet. App. 3-19).

## **CRITERIA SUPPORTING REVIEW**

In Steven V. v. Kelley H., this Court held that due process did not completely prohibited the use of summary judgment in TPR proceedings. 2004 WI 47, ¶¶4-5, 271 Wis. 2d 1, 678 N.W.2d 856. In so holding, the court affirmed a summary judgment order in which the grounds for parental unfitness were "continuing denial of periods of physical placement or visitation," which is "expressly provable by evidence of a court order. Id., ¶39.

While the court explained in a footnote that it was not creating a categorical rule about which grounds are or are not appropriate for summary judgment, the court's holding was substantively premised on the important distinctions between "factintensive" and "paper grounds" of parental fitness. *Id.*,  $\P$  36-39.

On one hand, the court noted that "[i]n many TPR cases, the determination of parental unfitness will require the resolution of factual disputes by a court or jury at the fact-finding hearing because the alleged grounds for unfitness involve the adjudication of parental conduct vis-à-vis the child." *Id.*, ¶36. The court cited continuing CHIPS as one of the fact-intensive for which summary judgment will "ordinarily be inappropriate." *Id.*  On the other hand, the court contrasted these fact-intensive grounds with the others that are "expressly provable with documentary evidence." *Id.*, ¶¶37-39. The court noted the legislature had recently adopted additional paper grounds, which undercut the complete prohibition on the use of summary judgment in TPR cases. *Id.* The court explained that these paper grounds "evince[] the legislature's manifest intent to enable unfitness determinations to conclusively flow from certain existing court orders that satisfy the statutory requirements." *Id.*, ¶39. Further, the court commented that "[w]e fail to see how this intent is furthered by requiring the empanelment of a jury to receive evidence of the existence of a court order or judgment about which there is no dispute." *Id.* 

It is indeed hard to imagine the purpose served by requiring jury trials in TPR cases determined by undisputed court orders. The contrast, however, between these paper grounds and the fact-intensive grounds, such as continuing CHIPS, is stark. The continuing CHIPS ground requires the county to prove not only that the parent failed to meet the conditions of return of the child set by court in the CHIPS order, but that the county made a "reasonable effort" to provide services to assist the parent meet those conditions. Wis. Stat. § 48.415(2)(a)2.b.

Moreover, "reasonable efforts" is defined as: "an earnest and conscientious effort to take good faith steps to provide the services ordered by the court which takes into consideration the characteristics of the parent or child or of the expectant mother or child, the level of cooperation of the parent or expectant mother and other relevant circumstances of the case." Wis. Stat. § 48.415(2)(a)2.a. Aside from the fact that "reasonable efforts" cannot be proven by court order, it is the type of evidentiary question inherently designed to be answered by a jury. See Lambrecht v. Estate of Kaczmarczyk, 2001 WI 25, ¶2, 241 Wis. 2d 804, 623 N.W.2d 751 (reversing a summary judgment order in a tort case based on a claim of negligence based on the fact that a court must be able to say that no reasonable jury could conclude that the non-moving party's actions were not reasonable).

Nevertheless, in C.S.'s case and a published decision upon which the decisions below rest, the court of appeals has disregarded the fact-intensive nature of non-paper grounds cases and unlawfully placed the burden on the parent to affirmatively prove they are fit to parent. *See Brown County v. B.P.*, 2019 WI App 18, 386 Wis. 2d 557, 927 N.W.2d 560 (affirming a summary judgment order against parent despite an asserted "good cause" defense to abandonment).

Instead of recognizing the fundamental rights at issue and the fact-intensive grounds alleged by the county, the court of appeals has used the "case-bycase" rule to affirm summary judgment orders that should have been tried to a jury of the parents' peers. Moreover, whether a parent's cause of "good," or whether the county's effort to provide services was "reasonable" are unquestionably matters to be decided by a jury, not by a court.

Absent an outright and unambiguous concession of unfitness by the parent, summary judgment is not appropriate when the grounds alleged are the factintensive type highlighted by this Court in Steven V. v. Kelley H. Because the court of appeals' application of summary judgment in fact-intensive TPR cases has drifted well off course from Steven V. v. Kelley H., review is warranted in this case. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1)(d).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 10, 2021, Portage County petitioned to terminate C.S.'s parental rights to his son, E.T.S. (3). The county's petition alleged that grounds existed to terminate C.S.'s parental rights under Wis. Stat. § 48.415(2)(a): that E.T.S. is in continuing need of protection or services, also known as "continuing CHIPS." (3:1, 11-13).

The initial hearing on the county's petition was held on March 9, 2021. (110:2). C.S. appeared by phone from the Winnebago County Jail. (110:2). Prior to addressing the county's petition, the court asked C.S. whether he disagreed with anything in a recently filed permanency plan review in the underlying CHIPS case. (110:8). C.S. responded:

> I've been incarcerated most of the time and they say that I blame the department and my probation officer for my actions; and that's what's got me here, which is sort of the truth, that the system has failed me. I had a private investigator do work with my alternative to revocation, and he came back with, I never had an opportunity to get my mental health addressed or even get treatment for my ongoing AODA issues...I'm sitting in this spot because I haven't had the opportunity to address what needs to be addressed.

(110:9) (emphasis added).

In line with the circuit court's pre-trial scheduling order, the county filed a motion for

- 6 -

summary judgment on November 17, 2021. (69). The county argued that no issues of genuine fact existed and that the county was entitled to judgment as a matter of law that grounds existed to terminate C.S.'s parental rights under Wis. Stat. § 48.415(2)(a).

As relevant here, the county asserted that it provided services to C.S. as ordered by the court "through reasonable efforts:"

> These efforts include parenting education, classes, AODA services, mental health services, visitation between [C.S.] and [E.T.S.], ongoing case management through CPS, and foster care placement for [E.T.S.]. Through his own admission, during the brief time that [C.S.] was not incarcerated, any services or efforts made to assist him in following the court order were dismissed or ignored by [C.S.].

> Similarly, because of [C.S.'s] continued incarceration throughout almost the entirety of this order, there were no further efforts that could have been put forth to provide the services ordered by the court. Therefore, unless otherwise put forth by [C.S.], there are no further efforts that could have been made by the department to ensure he was following through with the court order.

(69:9) (emphasis added).

In terms of specific examples of its "reasonable efforts," the county alleged that it offered AODA services, but C.S. declined information about Narcotics Anonymous," by explaining that "those were good places to score drugs." (69:5, 57). The county also explained that C.S.'s incarceration for the vast majority of the dispositional order meant that he was unable to participate in the services the county offered. (69:4-5).

C.S.'s appointed trial counsel filed no response to the county's motion for summary judgment. Trial counsel also failed to respond to the county's subsequent letter, which asked the court to sanction C.S. for failing to comply with the court's scheduling order. (73).

On January 5, 2022, the court held a hearing on the county's motion for summary judgment. (107; Pet. App. 20-33). C.S. appeared in person and his counsel failed to appear in person, but received permission from the court to appear by Zoom. (107:2; Pet. App. 21). Immediately, the court took up the county's motion for summary judgment and asked trial counsel if he had "a comment?" (107:3; Pet. App. 22). Counsel responded:

> I did, Your Honor. Concerning the summary judgment, I want to indicate for the record that I had the opportunity to review discovery in this matter. I've had the opportunity to investigate [the] procedural course this matter took, and I have not been able to identify any issues of material fact, and I have not, intentionally, filed an affidavit as a result.

## (107:3; Pet. App. 22).

Thereafter, the county reaffirmed its position that it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law that grounds existed to terminate C.S.'s parental rights to E.T.S. (107:3-4; Pet. App. 22-23). The court then summarized the county's uncontested motion and granted summary judgment on grounds. (107:7-11; Pet. App. 26-30). A dispositional hearing was held on February 2, 2022. (108). The county called two witnesses and the court entered an order terminating C.S.'s parental rights to E.T.S. (88; 108; Pet. App. 34-39).

On June 30, 2022, C.S. filed a notice of appeal and then on August 4, 2022, a motion for remand of the case to the circuit court pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.107(6)(am). The court of appeals granted C.S.'s motion for remand on August 24, 2022. (127). C.S. filed a postdisposition motion on September 8, 2022. (129; Pet. App. 40-53).

As anticipated in C.S.'s motion for remand, C.S.'s postdisposition motion alleged that his trial counsel provided constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to substantively oppose the county's motion for summary judgment. (129; Pet. App. 40-53). C.S. argued that multiple substantive bases existed from which trial counsel could have and should have opposed the county's motion for summary judgment and demonstrate that genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether the county made a "reasonable effort" to provide services to C.S. as ordered by the court. (129:5-12; Pet. App. 44-51).

First, C.S. argued that trial counsel was ineffective for not opposing the county's assertion of "reasonable efforts" in the face of the county's implicit assertions that it was under less of an obligation to provide services or make "reasonable efforts" to assist C.S. when he was incarcerated. (129:8-9; 69:4-5, 9; Pet. App. 47-48). As affirmatively alleged by the county, C.S. was incarcerated for all but four to five months between the removal of E.T.S. from his care to the filing of the TPR petition. (129:8-9; 69:4-5; Pet. App. 47-48). For this reason, the county asserted that C.S. was unable to participate in any services and implicitly conceded that it made no effort to ensure that C.S. obtained services ordered by the court that would have assisted him address his AODA and mental health issues. (129:8-9; 69:4-5; Pet. App. 47-48).

Second, C.S. alleged that trial counsel failed to utilize C.S.'s responses to the county's requests for admissions to argue that the efforts the county made to provide services to C.S. were not "reasonable" under the circumstances. (129:9; 69:56-58; Pet. App. 49). While C.S. admitted that the county made "an effort," and did provide some services, he affirmatively disputed that the county's efforts were "reasonable." For example, asked to admit that he engaged in all AODA services available to him at Racine Youthful Offender Correctional Facility, C.S. entered а "partial admit," noting that "he was not offered AODA because there was no facilitator." (69:56; 129:9; Pet. App. 49). Also, C.S. noted that his position throughout the dispositional order was that he "blamed the system" and that he was "sick of the system and that [the county was] not helping him get [E.T.S.] back." (69:58; 129:9; Pet. App. 49).

Third, C.S. argued that trial counsel was ineffective in not utilizing an AODA and mental health evaluation conducted on C.S. in August 18, 2020, as support for C.S.'s position that the county's efforts were not reasonable. (129:9-10; 133; Pet. App. 49-50). C.S. relied on and cited to the evaluation, which was included in discovery provided to trial counsel, for the position that: [O]ur system has been unsuccessful in providing [C.S.] with these necessary services to address his misuse of marijuana and methamphetamine. It is evident [C.S.] was showing signs and symptoms he was spiraling out of control since 2020, a month after his release from the Wisconsin State Prison System where he did not receive any AODA treatment services in the 24 months he spent incarcerated, yet minimal, if any, interventions or services were offered to him other than sanctioned jail time where again no treatment services were available or offered. In fact, based on [C.S.'] reports he was only subject to an AODA assessment and has yet to engage any AODA programming/treatment. It is unrealistic to expect [C.S.] to achieve sobriety without adequate treatment.

#### (129:9-10; 133:6-7; Pet. App. 49-50).

In summary, C.S. argued that trial counsel provided constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel because had he utilized the evidence and record available to him, the county's motion for summary judgment would have been denied because there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the county made a "reasonable effort" to provide services to C.S. that would have assisted him in meeting the court ordered conditions for the return of C.S. (129; Pet. App. 40-53).

The county filed a response to C.S.'s motion and the court held an evidentiary hearing. (134; 148:1; Pet. App. 54). Trial counsel testified regarding his failure, on behalf of C.S., to file any response or otherwise oppose the county's motion for summary judgment. (148:4-18). Trial counsel's testimony was consistent with his "comment" offered at the January 5, 2022, hearing: he simply failed to identify "any issues of material fact" and his failure to oppose the county's motion for summary judgment was not based on any other reasonable strategic decision. (148:4-5, 12-18).

After argument from the parties, the court issued its decision denying C.S.'s postdisposition motion. (148:38-48; Pet. App. 55-65). First, the court summarized its understanding of the law on summary judgment as applied to a case like C.S.'s:

> And so, the question again is what is reasonable? Who should decide what is reasonable? Is that a community decision or a decision that the Court can make based on undisputed facts?

> And so, I had a law professor who once told me that negligence equals jury, and I think that is exactly what he was talking about.

> And that's what <u>Steven V</u> was talking about, that there are grounds that are such that they require a jury decision. That's the argument that [C.S.] is making here today, and I agree with all of that. But that's not the way the law has developed in this area.

(148:43-44; Pet. App. 60-61).

Second, the court relied on a court of appeals decision in a TPR case concerning summary judgment as applied to the affirmative good cause defense to the abandonment ground for parental unfitness:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Steven V. v. Kelley H., 2004 WI 47, 271 Wis. 2d 1, 678 N.W.2d 856

And so, looking at the <u>B.P.</u><sup>3</sup> case, the -very interestingly, two different parents and two different decisions on the good cause defense in that case. Even though this seems to be something that would require a community decision -- is the cause good or not -- the Court of Appeals said that one of the parents did establish good cause and the other didn't.

And so, the courts -- the Court of Appeals and possibly the Supreme Court, although I'm not familiar with any specific decision -- have allowed summary judgment in these fact-intensive grounds on certain circumstances based upon the law that's really abundantly clear about summary judgment that's been provided in numerous civil cases, including summary judgment in TPR cases.

(148:44; Pet. App. 61). The court then expressed concern about what it understood to be the "way the law has developed in this area:"

I question whether that's right -- whether that's the right process to engage in in these cases because it does seem like the Court of Appeals is doing a very thorough review of the facts, which the cases on summary judgment say is not supposed to occur.

If the moving party makes an assertion of facts that is sufficient or is sufficient or not, the Court is not a fact finder in a summary judgment motion, and that seems in some ways what the Court of Appeals is doing in the <u>B.P.</u> case.

(148:45; Pet. App. 62). The court then addressed a Wisconsin Supreme Court case concerning summary judgment in a negligence case:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Brown County v. B.P., 2019 WI App 18, 386 Wis. 2d 557, 927 N.W.2d 560.

Turning to <u>Kaczmarczyk</u><sup>4</sup>...[t]he Court in that case points out that negligence has this reasonable person standard and that summary judgment should be incredibly rare and -- because there would have to be no way that a fact finder could draw any other possible inference from the facts before they could grant summary judgment.

And so, I think that's really where it leaves us. The law on summary judgment is not very clear, but it is out there.

The bottom line is that in these community-fact situations, summary judgment is authorized. It would probably be easier if courts would draw a line and say that in these situations, it's never appropriate.

It would certainly eliminate a lot of these questions and this kind of hearing because then there would be a trial every time the County filed a TPR with continuing need or abandonment or failure to assume grounds. But that's not -- that doesn't seem to be the law. And so, summary judgment is authorized.

(148:45-46; Pet. App. 62-63). Finally, the court reviewed the circuit court's<sup>5</sup> original decision granting summary judgment and relied on Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.107 to deny C.S.'s motion:

And that's essentially what Judge Eagon's decision was, that there was no possible inference

<sup>4</sup> See Lambrecht v. Estate of Kaczmarczyk, 2001 WI 25, 241 Wis. 2d 804, 623 N.W.2d 751.

<sup>5</sup> The Honorable Judge Thomas B. Eagon presided over C.S.'s case through disposition. By the time of C.S.'s postdisposition motion hearing, the Honorable Michael D. Zell had been appointed as Portage County Circuit Court Judge in Branch 1. based on the facts that the jury could have found there were not reasonable efforts by the County.

And so, I think the most generous argument or summary of [C.S.'s argument] that I can make is that he is asserting that [trial counsel] should have asserted that there were other potential inferences based on the facts.

And based on 809.107, I don't believe that it's my duty or role at this point to re-judge Judge Eagon's decision. Judge Eagon applied the law, as I've stated it today, and concluded that the County had established beyond any alternative inference that the County had provided reasonable efforts.

And so, I don't believe [trial counsel] is deficient for failing to argue that there were other inferences that could have been drawn.

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