FILED 04-07-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2022AP001090

In re the termination of parental rights to E.T.S., person under the age of 18: PORTAGE COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

C.S.,

Case 2022AP001090

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from an Order Terminating C.S.'s Parental Rights to E.T.S. and an Order Denying C.S.'s Postdisposition Motion Entered in the Portage County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael D. Zell, Presiding

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

Attorney Lennon continued that he had an opportunity to review the discovery in this case, and that he had investigated any procedural course this matter could take. (R: 148, 12). This is conceded by C.S. in his attorney's argument. (R: 148, 25). Attorney Lennon testified he concluded that there were no genuine issues of material fact that he could argue to oppose summary judgment based on his analysis. (Id.) Attorney Lennon further clarified for the court that he was unable to draw any alternative inferences to the idea that the county had met its burden in showing they had provided reasonable efforts to C.S. in arguing summary judgment. (Id. at 15). Attorney Lennon then testified that C.S. was unwilling to communicate with him after their first meeting. (Id. at 16). He continued that he attempted on six separate occasions to speak with C.S. but that C.S. was unwilling to provide Attorney Lennon with any input after their first conversation. (Id. at 15-16). Attorney Lennon continued that C.S. refused to speak with him about the case on at least the last five communications Attorney Lennon attempted. (Id. at 18). Due to this, he was unable to discuss the summary judgment motion nor any alternative facts or inferences that could be presented to the court to challenge the county's motion for summary judgment. (Id. at 18). Attorney Lennon stated that due to his client's unwillingness to talk with him he was only able to rely upon the discovery provided to him. (Id.) Using his experience and strategic reasoning as an experienced TPR attorney, he was

unable to find any genuine issues of material fact sufficient for the jury to decide upon. (*Id.*)

Judge Michael Zell made a record related to the underlying summary judgment facts and found that in TPR cases, based upon his reading of the current case law, specifically citing Brown County v. B.P., 2019 WI App. 18, 368 Wis. 2d 557, 927 N.W.2d 560, summary judgment is allowed in cases that include factintensive grounds in certain circumstances. (Id. at 44). Judge Zell noted, Judge Eagon found that there were no alternative inferences to the county's assertion that they had made reasonable efforts as required under Wis. Stat. § 48.415(2)(a), and there were no additional facts presented to Attorney Lennon that could have been used to raise a genuine issue of material fact regarding the reasonable efforts element. (*Id.* at 46-47). Judge Zell explained that his role under Wis. Stat. § 809.107 was to determine if Attorney Lennon was deficient in his representation of C.S. and if C.S. was prejudiced by the deficiency. (Id.)

Following testimony and arguments, Judge Zell denied C.S.'s postdisposition motion and found that Attorney Lennon had not provided ineffective assistance of counsel to C.S. by not responding to the summary judgment motion submitted by the county. (*Id.* at 47-48). It was Judge Zell's ruling that Attorney Lennon was not deficient for analyzing the information he had and coming to the conclusion there were no competing inferences to what was alleged and put forth by the county. (Id.). Judge Zell also ruled that Attorney Lennon was not deficient because he did not find any additional facts in the record that differed from the County's assertions in their affidavit in support of summary judgment. (Id.) Judge Zell continued his ruling that C.S.'s mere disagreement with how the county provided reasonable efforts

did not create a genuine issue of material fact. (*Id.*) Further, Judge Zell pointed out that neither Attorney Lennon, nor Judge Eagon believed there were any alternative inferences that could be made related to reasonable efforts in the record at the time. (*Id.*) The only opposition were not any specific "non-opinion facts" that could have been asserted, thereby, the evidence cited by C.S. in his post-dispositional motion was not sufficient to overcome the motion submitted by the county. (*Id.*)

The court signed a written order denying C.S.'s post-disposition motion and the record was transmitted back to the Court of Appeals for review. (R: 144). The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished slip opinion, dated February 23, 2023. This petition for review followed.

REASONS FOR DENYING THE PETITION

I. The Issue Presented Does Not Meet the Criteria for Review

C.S.'s petition alleges that it is time to reconsider this court's holding in *Steven V. v. Kelley H.*, 2004 WI 47, 4-5, 271 Wis. 2d 1, 678 N.W.2d 856.⁴ Pet. for Review at 2. However, in his multipage explanation of the criteria for review, C.S. does not explain how this request satisfies any of the criteria for review under Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r). Petitioner's critiques of *Steven V.* amount to little more than the original arguments that were rejected at the time *Steven V.* was decided. Accordingly, Petitioner fails to demonstrate a substantial or compelling need for this court to consider changing a policy within its authority.

A. C.S. Fails to Demonstrate Substantial or Compelling Reasons for Review

C.S.'s petition advocates for a bright-line rule that summary judgment is never appropriate in certain TPR cases, including TPR cases based on continuing need grounds pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 48.415(2). However, this type of bright-line rule was previously rejected by this Court in *Steven V. v. Kelley H.*, 2004 WI 47, 36, 271 Wis. 2d 1, 678 N.W.2d 856. *Steven V.* explained that many times, "the determination of parental unfitness will require the resolution of factual disputes by a court or jury at the fact-finding hearing, because the alleged ground for unfitness involve the adjudication of parental conduct vis-à-vis the child." *Id.* at ¶ 36. However, this Court clarified that it was not making a bright-line rule that only certain grounds for appropriate for summary judgment. Instead, *Steven V.* stated

⁴ Pet. for Review at 2.

that "[t]he propriety of summary judgement [on any ground] is determined [on a] case-by-case basis. Id. at ¶ 37 n.4, ¶ 44. As a result, $Steven\ V$. overruled the previous broad prohibition against the use of summary judgment in TPR cases, stating:

The jury trial right in TPR cases is statutory only, and is therefore subject to the provisions of the code of civil procedure, including summary judgment procedure as specified in Wis. Stat. § 802.08. Due process requires a hearing ... and clear and convincing proof of unfitness, and summary judgment procedure under Wis. Stat. § 802.08 accommodates both. *Elizabeth W.'s* broad prohibition against the use of summary judgment in the unfitness of a TPR case was statutorily and constitutionally unwarranted, and we therefore overrule it.

Steven V., at ¶ 44 (internal citations omitted).

By advocating for a bright-line rule that summary judgment is never appropriate in TPR cases based on continuing need, abandonment, or failure to assume, C.S. is advocating for a return for cases under those grounds to the position they were under *Walworth County Dep't of Human Servs. v. Elizabeth W.* 189 Wis. 2d 432, 525 N.W.2d 384 (Ct. App. 1994) (concluding "summary judgment is inappropriate in TPR cases where a parent contests the termination") *overruled by Steven V.*, 2004 WI 47, ¶ 44.

C.S. presents no new arguments for returning those "fact intensive" cases to the broad prohibition under *Elizabeth W.*. Just as was noted in *Steven V.*, making that bright-line rule would be contrary to Wis. Stat. § 801.01(2), which provides the general rule that the civil procedure code applies to all civil actions, including TPR cases, unless a different procedure is prescribed. *See* Wis. Stat. § 801.01(2).

The availability of partial summary judgment in the grounds phase of a TPR action where the proof of unfitness under the statute is undisputed furthers the legislatures' purpose and is consistent with the general rule that the provisions of the code of civil procedure apply to all civil actions and proceedings. If the legislature had intended to enact a right to a jury trial in TPR cases based on grounds such as continuing need, failure to assume, and abandonment, equivalent to the constitutional criminal jury trial right, it would have expressly done so, as it did in Chapter 980.⁵ In the nearly twenty years since *Steven V.* was decided, the legislature has not amended Chapter 48 to include any alternative procedures to summary judgment under Wis. Stat. § 802.08 for any TPR ground.

In sum, C.S. presents no substantial or compelling reason for this court to overrule its previous holding in *Steven V*. that was not already rejected by this court in that decision. This failure warrants denial of the petition for review.

B. Methodology for Summary Judgment and Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Are Well Established.

Examining the facts of this case would not offer any further development of the requirements for summary judgment in TPR cases because the Court of Appeals decision is based on sound application of the undisputed facts to well-established principles, namely the methodology for identifying a material issue of fact. The Court of Appeals correctly found that contrary to C.S.'s assertion, this case was not analogous to *Brown County Human*

⁵ As discussed in *Steven V.*, 2004 WI 47, fn. 5, under Wis. Stats. §§ 980.03 and 980.05(1m), the legislature expressly created the statutory equivalent of a criminal jury trial right in a civil proceeding.

Services v. B.P., 2019 WI App 18, 386 Wis. 2d 557, 927 N.W.2d 560. Unlike C.S.'s vague allegations here that the county did not do enough to help him, the mother in B.P. alleged very specific facts in opposition to summary judgment. Specifically, she argued that a genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether there was good cause for her not visiting her child, namely, that her lack of transportation prevented her from traveling the over 100 mile distance between her place of residence and the child's placement. Portage County DH&HS v. C.S., 2020AP1090 at ¶ 32, fn. 5; App. 18.

The Court of Appeals decision addressed the issue in this case relying on well-settled principles and an adept contrast between the facts of C.S.'s case versus those presented in B.P. The Court of Appeals examined the three types of evidence C.S. alleged created a factual dispute as to whether the County made reasonable efforts and rejected each in turn.

First, the Court of Appeals rejected C.S.'s argument that the County's motion for summary judgment contained an "implicit concession" it failed to provide AODA services while he was incarcerated. The Court of Appeals stated:

C.S. provides no explanation, argument, or legal support for the proposition that the County has the authority or ability to require the Department of Corrections or any other non-county entity to provide AODA treatment. Thus, even assuming that C.S. is correct that the County did not provide AODA services to him while he was incarcerated, his argument on this point is undeveloped and I therefore do not consider it.

Portage Cnty DH&HS v. C.S., 2020AP1090, unpublished slip op. (Feb. 23, 2023) at ¶ 28; App. 15.

Next, the Court of Appeals addressed C.S.'s argument that counsel was ineffective in failing to utilize three of his responses to the County's requests for admissions to allege that genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether the County made reasonable efforts. The Court of Appeals noted that none of these discovery responses created an issue of material fact, stating:

To the extent that he was not provided AODA treatment while at the Racine [DOC] facility because of the lack of a facilitator, C.S. fails to show how this demonstrates that the County ... failed to make reasonable efforts to make AODA treatment available.

. . .

C.S.'s [discovery] response shows that the County provided C.S. information about local AODA support meetings such as Narcotics Anonymous. That C.S. refused to take advantage of such treatment, allegedly due to a belief that such services "were a good place to 'score drugs," does not create a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the County made reasonable efforts.

. .

Likewise, C.S.'s statements that he was "sick of the system" and that the County "was not helping him get [E.T.S.] back," do not raise genuine issues of material fact. These statements reflect C.S.'s opinion rather than a failure on the part of the County to make reasonable efforts.

Portage Cnty DH&HS v. C.S., 2020AP1090, unpublished slip op. (Feb. 23, 2023) at ¶¶ 30, 31, 32; App.16.

The Court of Appeals then rejected C.S.'s final argument that counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to identify and utilize an AODA evaluation to show that the County failed to provide reasonable services. This AODA assessment was undisputedly completed for C.S. for purposes of his criminal cases, specifically, the possibility of revocation of his extended supervision. The Court of Appeals found that the critiques within the evaluation, when read in context, reflect critiques of the corrections system, not the County. It then held, "C.S. has failed to show that counsel was deficient in failing to argue that this evaluation creates a genuine issue of material fact as to

whether the County made reasonable efforts." *Portage Cnty DH&HS v. C.S.*, 2020AP1090, unpublished slip op. (Feb. 23, 2023) at ¶¶ 33-34; App.15-16.

In this case, the Court of Appeals found that C.S. did not establish that his counsel was ineffective in not arguing, based on the evidence discussed above, that genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether the County made reasonable efforts, because the evidence asserted by C.S. on appeal do not rise to the level of genuine issues of material fact. This case does not call for application of a new doctrine but is instead an example of the Court of Appeals applying well-settled principles to a factual situation. Nor is this a novel case. It is a case simply challenging summary judgment to a specific set of facts. As such, review by this Court under Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)1. or 2. is not warranted. Respectfully, the County would request that the Petition for Review be denied.

II. C.S.'s Failure to Address Prejudice Under the Strickland Test is Alternate Grounds to Support the Result in the Court of Appeals

C.S., rather than attacking the validity of the summary judgment motion directly, has consistently framed his argument that there were material issues of fact and therefore his counsel was ineffective in failing to identify those factual issues and utilize them in a response to the summary judgment motion. Ineffective assistance of counsel claims in TPR matters are reviewed under the same test as criminal cases, set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); see Nicole W., 299 Wis. 2d 637, ¶ 33. Under *Strickland*, to show that counsel was ineffective, a parent must demonstrate two prongs: (1) counsel

was deficient; and (2) counsel's deficiency prejudiced the parent. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687.

Applying the Strickland test to the question of ineffective assistance of counsel, the circuit court found that C.S. failed both prongs of the test, i.e, that counsel was not ineffective and there was no prejudice. App. 65. However, C.S. only addressed the deficiency prong in his appellate brief. The Court of Appeals addressed the second prong, stating, "[a]s to prejudice, implicit in C.S.'s ineffective assistance claim is the assumption that, had counsel made such arguments, there would have been a reasonable probability that the circuit court would not have granted partial summary judgment to the County." Portage Cnty *DH&HS v. C.S.*, 2020AP1090, unpublished slip op. (Feb. 23, 2023) at ¶ 23; App.14. After finding that C.S. failed to establish the first prong of the Strickland test, the Court of Appeals did not address the County's argument that C.S. also failed to establish prejudice. *Id.* citing *Strickland* at 697.

C.S.'s failure to develop a full and distinct argument as the prejudice prong of the Strickland test is clear alternative grounds for which the Court of Appeals could have ruled against C.S. on that issue. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(3)(d); see also State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (finding the court of appeals need not address undeveloped arguments).

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the County respectfully requests that this Court deny the petition for review.